Wiltshire Council Where everybody matters

# MINUTES

Meeting: WOOTTON BASSETT AND CRICKLADE AREA BOARD

Place: St Bartholomew's School, The Rosary, Wootton Bassett, SN4 8AZ

**Date:** 6 July 2011

Start Time: 7.00 pm

Finish Time: 8.55 pm

Please direct any enquiries on these minutes to:

Penny Bell, direct line 01249 706610 or e-mail penny.bell@wiltshire.gov.uk

Papers available on the Council's website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

## In Attendance:

#### Wiltshire Councillors

Cllr Peter Doyle (Chairman), Cllr Jacqui Lay, Cllr Allison Bucknell, Cllr Peter Colmer (Vice Chairman), Cllr Mollie Groom and Cllr Bill Roberts

## Wiltshire Council Officers

Penny Bell, Democratic Services Officer Alison Sullivan, Community Area Manager Laurie Bell, Service Director Policy, Research and Communications

#### **Town and Parish Councillors**

Cricklade Town Council – David Tetlow, Shelley Parker (Clerk) Wootton Bassett Town Council – Sue Doyle, Sue Hughes, Steve Wallis, Chris Wannell, Jenny Stratton, Johnathan Bourne (Clerk) Broad Town Parish Council – Veronica Stubbings Latton Parish Council – Phil Winfield Lydiard Millicent Parish Council – Tim Blackmore Lydiard Tregoz Parish Council – Peter Willis Lyneham and Bradenstoke Parish Council – Ann Kingdon Marston Meysey Parish Council – Michael Waldron Purton Parish Council – Mike Bell

## Partners

Wiltshire Police – Sergeant Martin Alvis Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service – Mike Franklin Community Area Young Peoples' Issues Group – P Smith Extended Services – Andrea Smith Wootton Bassett Shadow Community Operations Board – Thomas Woodhouse, Alan Mole, Angelina Peaker

# Total in attendance: 96

<u>Agenda</u> <u>Item No.</u>	Summary of Issues Discussed and Decision
1.	Chairman's Welcome and Introductions
	The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting of the Wootton Bassett & Cricklade Area Board, and introduced the councillors and officers present.
	For those that were new to the Area Board meeting, the Chairman explained that the meetings were open and informal, and that everyone would be given the opportunity to have their say.
	The Chairman also announced that filming and photography would be taking place during the course of the meeting for the purpose of developing the Area Board's social media communication.
2.	Apologies for absence
	Apologies for absence were received from Inspector Chris Martin, Mike Leighfield of Wootton Bassett Town Council, Ray Thomas of Purton Parish Council and Ruth Szybiak of the Wootton Bassett Shadow Community Operations Board.
3.	<u>Minutes</u>
	<u>Decision</u> The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 25 May 2011 were agreed a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
4.	Declarations of Interest
	There were no declarations of interest.
5.	Chairman's Announcements
	The Chairman drew attention to a number of announcements, as follows, full details of which were included within the agenda:
	<ul> <li><b>13 to 19 Draft Commissioning Strategy</b>         The Draft Strategy, which outlined a series of plans for improving services for children between the ages of 13 to 19, was now out for consultation until Friday 5 August 2011.     </li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Help to Live at Home</li> <li>The Council had been working with the NHS and residents of Wiltshire to review services that were available to older and vulnerable people.</li> </ul>
	iii. Military Civilian Integration Programme Update A full update of the recent activities of this Programme, including the

	iii.	NHS Wiltshire
	ii.	Wiltshire Fire & Rescue Service The written update report was received noted. There was no further update.
	Upda i.	<ul> <li>tes from partners were received as follows:</li> <li>Wiltshire Police The written update report was received and noted. Sergeant Martin Alvis wished to thank Wootton Bassett School for its help with the Battle of the Bands event on 10June, which had been a great success. Sergeant Alvis reported that crime figures had increased in the area, particularly in relation to burglaries, non-dwelling burglaries and theft from motor vehicles. Efforts were being made to reduce crime levels, and some positive arrests had been made.</li></ul>
6.	<u>Partr</u>	ner Updates
		<b>Petitions</b> The Area Board noted receipt of two petitions; one from residents of Purton regarding Sunday bus service provision, and one from residents of Wootton Bassett regarding the suspension of bus service 54. Both petitions had been formally logged with Democratic Services, and had been passed to Councillor Dick Tonge (Cabinet member for Highways and Transport) and Councillor Richard Gamble (Portfolio Holder for Public Transport) for formal responses to be directly provided.
		<b>Brian Atfield</b> Since the previous Area Board meeting it had been announced that Brian Atfield had sadly passed away after a short illness. Tributes were paid to Brian and the work he did for the people of Cricklade and Wiltshire. Brian's family had been very appreciative of people's support since Brian passed away, and for the overwhelming attendance at his funeral.
	The f	ollowing additional announcements were made:
	iv.	Wiltshire Core Strategy Consultation Document Wiltshire Council's Core Strategy was currently out for consultation until Monday 8 August 2011. A community consultation event would be taking place on Monday 18 July from 2pm until 8pm at the Wootton Bassett Library. This event had previously been incorrectly advertised as Wednesday 20 July.
		present situation with RAF Lyneham, was included in the agenda. The next meeting of the Lyneham Steering Group was due to be held on Thursday 21 July.

		The written update report was received and noted. There was no further update.
	iv.	<b>Parish and Town Councils</b> Written updates from Cricklade Town Council, Purton Parish Council and Wootton Bassett Town Council were received and noted.
		Purton Parish Council expressed concern regarding parking issues in the parish, particularly problems with motorists parking on double-yellow lines. Action: The Chairman agreed to investigate the matter and
		determine what measures were being taken to address this issue and how frequently the area was patrolled by parking wardens.
	v.	<b>Community Area Young Peoples' Issues Group (CAYPIG)</b> There was no update from the CAYPIG.
	vi.	<b>Community-Led Planning Steering Groups</b> Broad Town Parish Plan Steering Group announced that, after three years of work, the Parish Plan was now complete and had been distributed to all households in the parish. The Chairman congratulated the Steering Group on their hard work.
		Cricklade Parish Plan Steering Group was at the start of the Parish Plan process and was hoping to get underway very soon, and Wootton Bassett had begun the process and was making good progress, with the next meeting planned for Monday 25 July.
	vii.	Chambers of Commerce There were no updates from the Chambers of Commerce.
	viii.	Westlea Housing Association The written update was received and noted.
	ix.	<b>Community Groups</b> Wootton Bassett Sports Association – Plans to relocate to a larger site on land opposite the existing Ballard's Ash sports ground had unfortunately been delayed by the economic climate, but recent developments had taken place and it was envisaged that building works would commence in 2012.
		Cricklade Leisure Centre – Thanks were paid to the Area Board for its support of the Performance Reward Grant application for new gym equipment, which had been successful.
7.	Task	Group Updates
	Updat	tes were received as follows:

i.	<b>Local Traffic &amp; Highways Working Group</b> There was no update from this Group as it had not held a meeting since the previous Area Board meeting. The next meeting of the Local Traffic & Highways Working Group would be held on Thursday 11 August, and all parish and town councils were invited to send a representative.
II.	<b>Rural Buffer Zone/Neighbourhood Planning Task Group</b> At the previous meeting of the Area Board the decision was taken to progress the pilot Neighbourhood Planning Project in collaboration with spatial planning officers. A further report had been produced with a series of agreed actions for progressing the project; the report was distributed in the supplementary pack at the meeting.
	It was proposed that a Neighbourhood Planning Forum would be established that would replace the current Rural Buffer Zone Task Group.
	Representatives for the Neighbourhood Planning Forum would be invited from town and parish councils, community led planning groups; the MOD; Chambers of Commerce and the North Wilts Economic Partnership.
	Once established, it was proposed that the Neighbourhood Planning Forum would meet quarterly from September 2011.
	Work to be done included an Issues Paper for consideration by Community Led Planning Groups and others, vision and scoping tasks, and a facilitated workshop to develop a working proposal. The working assumption was that one Neighbourhood Plan for the community area would be developed, but that this would be flexible to meet local need.
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board noted the report from Spatial Planning Officers and endorsed the agreed actions.
	The Chairman asked for a show of hands from those present in support of the proposals. Of those who participated, 15 agreed with the proposals and 4 disagreed.
iii.	<b>Cricklade Shadow Community Operations Board</b> The report from the Cricklade Shadow Community Operations Board was contained within the supplementary pack and noted by the Area Board.
iv.	<b>Wootton Bassett Shadow Community Operations Board</b> Thomas Woodhouse, Chairman of the Wootton Bassett Shadow Community Operations Board, presented the report which contained the results of the recent consultation and a series of recommendations to the Area Board for the progression of the Campus project.

A petition was presented to the Area Board from residents of Wootton Bassett opposing the closure of the Lime Kiln swimming pool. The petition stated:
"We object that Wootton Bassett and the surrounding area not having its swimming pool, an invaluable asset for the community of this area. Many different clubs and groups made use of the pool. The pool was in use every day of the week by groups.
Not forgetting those who use the pool as a healthy and enjoyable form of exercise, many of whom are disabled or elderly.
The modern school curriculum requires that primary aged children receive swimming instruction; whilst the Lime Kiln is not open, this opportunity is being denied to local children. As children cannot have lessons in school nor reach other pools for lessons there is a potential risk to their future health and safety.
We, the undersigned, request that the pool in Wootton Bassett is re- opened, even only with temporary repairs by September 2011. We wish to register our protest against the possibility of a swimming pool at the Lime Kiln not re-opening or not being available until late 2012."
The petition contained approximately 2,500 signatures from local people and school children, requesting that the pool be re-opened on a temporary basis until the new Campus was complete.
The Chairman accepted and acknowledged the petition on behalf of the Area Board, and informed the petitioner that a response would be issued in due course.
Following presentation of the report, and receipt of the petition, a series of questions and queries arose, as follows:
<ul> <li>The Lime Kiln Sports Centre had been adequately insured by two separate insurance policies. The Council did not intend to re-open the pool using insurance funds, as the money could only be spent once and it would not be a prudent use of public money to expend funds on a building which potentially might then be required to be demolished shortly afterwards as part of a campus proposal.</li> <li>The Chairman explained that both Shadow Boards had been briefed to (1) adopt a 'blank sheet of paper' approach and to be open and receptive to all expressions of interest about the campus together with suggestions as to what might be included within a campus; while also (2) recognising that there would be no blank cheque at the end of the process and that the resulting campus proposal would have to be subject to a business case.</li> <li>Grant options, such as the National Lottery, had not been explored</li> </ul>

due to the length of time involved in the application process. The recommendations put to the Area Board from the Shadow Community Operations Board were derived from the results of the public consultation. All work of the SCOB so far was in the public domain and available on a dedicated page of the Wiltshire Council website. If the continued closure of the pool resulted in any issues regarding the curriculum then Wiltshire Council would respond as appropriate to any requests for assistance from schools. The Chairman informed the meeting that all schools in the locality had direct access into the consultations being conducted by the Wootton Bassett Shadow Board either through the representative for education and youth, George Croxford, head teacher at Wootton Bassett School or via direct representation to the Chairman of the Area Board. There was no fixed sum set aside for the development of the • campus. Instead, the approach used for capital programmes was that individual business cases would be developed for Cabinet consideration. It was confirmed that Wiltshire Council owned the current Wootton Bassett library building. No formal decisions could be made by the Area Board until the proposals from the Shadow Community Operations Board were ready for consideration. The final decision would then rest with the Cabinet. The Leisure Review carried out by Wiltshire Council in 2010 had indicated a strong need and desire for a Campus in the community area. Wiltshire Council responded to this and included Wootton Bassett in the pilot phase of the Campus programme due to the fire incident at Lime Kiln. The decision to pursue a Campus was made at the public meeting • of the Area Board on Wednesday 23 March 2011 when it was decided to establish two Shadow Community Operations Boards; one for Wootton Bassett and one for Cricklade. A 'frequently asked questions' document had been produced and was available on the Wiltshire Council website. Decision The Area Board agreed the following recommendations from the Wootton Bassett Shadow Community Operations Board: 1. To receive and note the report from the Wootton Bassett Shadow Community Operations Board (WB SCOB). 2. To approve the Working Proposal submitted by the WB SCOB for a split site campus and to ask officers to review the size of the existing pool in relation to local needs. 3. To endorse the further steps now proposed in the work programme for the WB SCOB to enable progress towards

	<ul> <li>development of a formal detailed campus proposal.</li> <li>4. To approve the holding of a specially convened Area Board meeting, when appropriate, to consider detailed proposals from the WB SCOB for campus provision in the Wootton Bassett Community Area.</li> </ul>
8.	Influencing the 2012 Olympic Legacy in Wiltshire
	Laurie Bell, Service Director for Policy, Research and Communications, gave a presentation about creating a lasting legacy of the 2012 Olympic Games in Wiltshire.
	The Olympics coming to the UK was a once in a lifetime opportunity, and a fantastic opportunity to showcase Wiltshire and all that the county had to offer.
	The recent formal announcement of the route of the Olympic Torch had confirmed that Salisbury had been chosen as one of the locations to hold an evening event. The exact route of the Olympic Torch through Wiltshire was unconfirmed at this stage, but was due to be officially announced in November.
	Nominations for torchbearers were being sought and it was hoped to have as many Wiltshire residents selected as possible. Nominations could be made online via the following website: <u>http://www.london2012.com/games/olympic-torch-relay/index.php</u> .
	Volunteers were also being sought to help with various activities locally in the run-up to the Olympics and anybody interested in volunteering should pass their details to Alison Sullivan, Community Area Manager.
9.	Waste and Recycling Collection Service
	The Chairman announced that this presentation would no longer be received due to time constraints.
	A copy of the presentation would be made available via the Community Area Network, and copies could also be obtained by contacting Alison Sullivan, Community Area Manager.
	Further information was also available on the Wiltshire Council website at <a href="http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/rubbishrecycling/waste.htm">http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/rubbishrecycling/waste.htm</a>
10.	Nomination of Representatives to Outside Bodies
	<u>Decision</u> Councillor Allison Bucknell was nominated as the Area Board's representative to the Viridor Credits Landfill Communities Fund Steering Group.

11.	Funding
	<ul> <li>a) Community Area Grants</li> <li>The Area Board considered the following applications to the Community Area Grants Scheme 2011/12:</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li><u>Wootton Bassett Bowls Club</u> The sum of £765 was requested for New Age bowls.</li> </ul>
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board awarded the sum of £765 to Wootton Bassett Bowls Club. <u>Reason:</u> The application met the Community Area Grant Criteria 2011/12 and demonstrated a link to the Community Plan.
	ii. <u>Purton and Cricklade Young Farmers Club</u> The sum of £951 was requested for an outdoor trip – Acorn Adventure Brecon Beacons.
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board awarded the sum of £951 to Purton and Cricklade Young Farmers Club. <u>Reason:</u> The application met the Community Area Grant Criteria 2011/12 and demonstrated a link to the Community Plan.
	<ul> <li>iii. <u>Purton Historical Society</u> The sum of £722 was requested for a plaque to commemorate Astronomer Royal buried in Purton.</li> </ul>
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board awarded the sum of £722 to Purton Historical Society. <u>Reason:</u> The application met the Community Area Grant Criteria 2011/12 and demonstrated a link to the Community Plan.
	<ul> <li>iv. <u>Lyneham Guide and Scout HQ Association</u> The sum of £5,000 was requested for relocating and refurbishing of Lyneham Guide and Scout HQ.</li> </ul>
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board awarded the sum of £5,000 to Lyneham Guide and Scout HQ Association. <u>Reason:</u> The application met the Community Area Grant Criteria 2011/12 and demonstrated a link to the Community Plan.

Page 10 of 11

	<ul> <li>V. <u>Lyneham Village Pre-School</u> The sum of £4,000 was requested for provision of outdoor expansion to the pre-school.</li> </ul>
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board awarded the sum of £4,000 to Lyneham Village Pre-School. <u>Reason:</u> The application met the Community Area Grant Criteria 2011/12 and demonstrated a link to the Community Plan.
	b) Delegation of Authority to Community Area Manager
	<u>Decision</u> The Area Board agreed that the Community Area Manager, in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Area Board, is granted delegated authority to approve expenditure not exceeding £1,000 from the budget delegated to the Area Board, for the purpose of funding urgent activities arising from the work undertaken by the Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Shadow Community Operations Boards, and to include retrospective expenditure of this nature incurred to date. Any such expenditure will be publicly reported at the earliest opportunity to the next full Area Board.
	c) Area Board Projects The Area Board considered one Area Board Project application, as follows:
	<ul> <li><u>The Safari Project</u> The sum of £1,500 was requested for the provision of a Blue Bus for young people.</li> <li><u>Decision</u> The Area Board awarded the sum of £1,500 to the Safari Project for the provision of a Blue Bus for young people.</li> </ul>
12.	Evaluation and Close
	The Chairman thanked everyone for attending the meeting, and extended particular thanks to the staff at St Bartholomew's Primary School for the use of their hall.
	The next ordinary meeting of the Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Area Board would be held on Wednesday 12 October 2011, 7.00pm at Cricklade Town Hall.

This page is intentionally left blank

# RESPONSE TO ENQUIRIES CLAIMING THE WOOTTON BASSETT CAMPUS WILL NOT HAVE ANY SWIMMING POOL PROVISION

The Area Board has established a Shadow Community Operations Board (Shadow COB) for the purpose of consulting with the public and helping to bring forward proposals for two community campuses – one in Cricklade and one in Wootton Bassett.

Details about the Wootton Bassett Shadow COB can be found here, including details about members. Notes of Shadow COB meetings will also be posted here as well. Updates on the consultation process and any proposals brought forward will also be reported at full meetings of the Area Board. http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/communityandliving/communitycampuses/woottonbassettcommunitycampus.htm

All individuals, clubs and societies can submit their views, opinions (or even detailed proposals for consideration) about the campus either in writing or via e-mail to Wiltshire Council at: <u>campusconsultation@wiltshire.gov.uk</u> and all such submissions will be taken into account by the Shadow COB.

The Shadow COB is just about to launch the first stage of its consultation and the survey form will be made available on the above webpage within a few days and also circulated in hard copy by the Shadow COB as well. The results of that initial survey are expected to be reported to the Area Board on 6 July and there will then be a second consultation period during July and August. A more detailed outline proposal (or choice of possible proposals) is then expected to be submitted by the Shadow COB for consideration by the Area Board in September 2011 and, subject to approval, detailed design work will then commence - though some scoping work might be expected to take place in the interim. The indicative work programme envisages a detailed planning application being secured by February 2012 with building commencing in spring 2012 and an approximate completion date of October 2012.

Until the consultation is completed, however, it is not possible to say exactly what facilities will be located on the campus or where the campus will be located. The campus could be located on the existing Lime Kiln site or potentially elsewhere. For those reasons it would not be appropriate for me, as Chairman of the Area Board, to provide detailed answers on these matters though I can provide some general indications. Thus, a number of Wiltshire Council provided services could, and are likely, to be co-located on the campus and WB Town Council has also expressed an interest in co-locating a modern community hall provision on the campus and provided the Shadow COB with an indication of its likely requirements in that respect. Other public service providers, such as, for example, NHS Wiltshire, might also wish to provide or operate services from the proposed campus.

Regarding the important question of swimming pool provision no-one, either elected members or officers, in Wiltshire Council has ever indicated that there would be no future pool provision in Wootton Bassett and I have said so very clearly at several public meetings of the Area Board.

The outcome of the strategic review of indoor leisure service provision conducted by Wiltshire Council last year indicated a continuing requirement for a swimming pool in Wootton Bassett. While the fire incident has resulted in a necessary temporary closure of pool facilities nothing has happened to alter that identified strategic need. It would, however, be financially imprudent of the Council to expend financial resources on repairs to the Lime Kiln building until the detailed outcome of the consultation process on the campus is known. Subject to the detailed outcome of the consultation process on the campus is known. Subject to the Shadow COB; it is, therefore, unlikely that the Area Board would sanction recommending the adoption of any campus proposal that did not include pool provision. Securing a campus provision for Wootton Bassett, therefore, provides a potential opportunity to improve and/or increase pool provision as part of the campus. Final approval, however, will be subject to a business case being agreed by Wiltshire Cabinet.

As the consultation process gets underway this should become clearer to all and I would encourage all interested individuals, societies and clubs to engage in that process and you may freely circulate this letter further should you so wish.

This page is intentionally left blank

# CONCERNING THE POSSIBILITY OF REOPENING THE FIRE DAMAGED LIKE KILN SWIMMING POOL ON A TEMPORARY BASIS

The possibility of re-opening the swimming pool on a temporary basis has been considered by the Council and will continue to assessed, but at this stage this facility will remain closed to the public. This is because the fire damage to the plant room and changing room areas is so extensive as to make this impossible without imprudent financial expenditure of public funds against the relatively immediate prospect of more extensive redevelopment of the leisure centre associated with the proposed campus facility.

The installation and use of temporary changing facilities has also separately been considered and rejected as impractical by the Council's contractor DC Leisure Services, who have professional expertise in operating such facilities, given the particular conditions on the Lime Kiln site (and which will also then change following commencement of any demolition and construction activity) together with consideration of child safeguarding measures that would be required for such facilities.

The re-instatement of the swimming pool and the associated facilities is linked to the wider discussions which will assess opportunities to create a campus in the Wootton Bassett community area, as the present situation allows scope to link any remedial works to a long term vision for the town and surrounding area.

You may be aware that the Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Area Board has formed a Shadow Community Operations Board in relation to the campus proposal for Wootton Bassett. The Shadow Community Operations Board consists of area board and town/parish council representatives and members of the public to ensure it can act on behalf of and to represent the local community, and has a key role in leading the consultation on the campus proposal for Wootton Bassett and its surrounding area.

Members of the Shadow Community Operations Board visited the Lime Kiln Leisure Centre as part of their initial meeting on the 24<sup>th</sup> of May in order to understand the existing facilities on the site and the fire damage to the pool, plant area and health suite. The Shadow Community Operations Board highlighted that the users of the pool, as well as the school are essential stakeholders in the Wootton Bassett campus proposal, and it is vital that the interests of these groups are key to any campus proposal. The Shadow Community Operations Board therefore has indicated that developing a proposal that incorporates the facilities at Lime Kiln Leisure Centre was an option that should be progressed, whilst also considering other options.

Creating a campus offers a real opportunity for communities to directly influence the services in their community area, and to plan for the future. The Shadow Community Operations Board will be contacting members of the Wootton Bassett local community over the coming weeks to gather their views on the campus proposal. In the interim, the building will be protected from weather damage, until the outcome of the community campus consultation is known, and a long term vision for facilities in the town is clearer.

We know this is not the sort of answer that you might have wished for and that it doesn't remedy the problem of having a pool which must temporarily remain closed. However, a reopened and potentially improved pool facility, will we are certain, feature in the campus proposals and we would encourage you to engage in the consultation process. You can do this by either emailing <u>Campusconsultation@wiltshire.gov.uk</u> or by attending the Community Area board meeting, further details of which can be obtained via <u>www.wiltshire.gov.uk</u>/communitycampuses

While not immediately satisfying the need for an open pool or being able to provide you with any specific timescales, we hope this reply is helpful to you in making the position as fully known to you as we are able.

This page is intentionally left blank